**RECEIVED**

**May 29 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Jennifer McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2024-001929

Florence Heyward Davis

Respondent,

v.

George Jenkins

Appellant.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Respectfully submitted,



George Jenkins  
1348 South Sherwood Dr.  
Charleston SC 29407  
(843) 813-0640 phone  
Pro-Se Appellant

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Whether the Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment when genuine issues of material fact existed.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from a case that was jointly filed in the Charleston County Probate Court, originating from the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas on December 27<sup>th</sup>, 2019.

(Exhibit A) An Order for Summary judgment was Ordered in this case of Appellant notified the Appeals Court of the intent to appeal the ruling on November 14<sup>th</sup>, 2024.

Despite conflicting testimony and documentary evidence supporting Appellant's claims, Respondent moved for partial summary judgment on May 10<sup>th</sup>, 2023, asserting that no genuine issue of material fact existed. (Exhibit B)

After a hearing on October 29<sup>th</sup>, 2024, the Circuit Court granted Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment on the basis that Appellant failed to demonstrate a triable issue. (Exhibit C) Prior to this ruling, Plaintiff filed a motion to Reconsider. That motion was denied by the Court (Exhibit D) This appeal followed.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary judgment is appropriate only when no genuine issue of material fact exists, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Rule 56(c), SCRCF; Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co., 306 S.C. 101, 109, 410 S.E.2d 537, 541 (1991)*. In reviewing the grant of summary judgment, appellate courts apply the same standard as the trial court, viewing the

evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.  
*Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002).

## ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment because genuine issues of material fact exist. Summary judgment should be denied when the record reveals disputes of material fact. *Baughman*, 306 S.C. at 109. The burden rests upon the movant to demonstrate the absence of such disputes. *Id.*

Here, the Circuit Court overlooked or misapprehended evidence that directly conflicts with Respondent's assertions. Specifically:

1. The Order from the Probate Court that found the three prior wills invalid.
2. That the Power of Attorney did not explicitly allow self-dealing.

The Court did not take the prior Probate Court's Order nor the three wills that were thrown out by the Probate Court. The argument by the Defendant that the Plaintiff lacks standing has no merit when the will that is supposedly excluding the Plaintiff at issue in Probate Court.

Summary judgment is particularly inappropriate when the outcome turns on witness credibility or competing inferences from the facts. *Etheredge v. Richland Sch. Dist. Two*, 341 S.C. 307, 311, 534 S.E.2d 275, 277 (2000). Considering these factual disputes, it was error for the Circuit Court to weigh the evidence or make credibility determinations. The presence of such genuine issues of material fact mandates reversal of summary judgment. According to *Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 567 S.E.2d 857 (2002):

"In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party."

This means when there is opposing evidence presented by opposing parties the non-movant must have priority as it relates to summary judgment.

It is also established that Summary Judgment should not be granted when credibility is at issue. In *Etheredge v. Richland Sch. Dist. Two*, 341 S.C. 307, 534 S.E.2d 275 (2000) it states:

"Summary judgment is rarely appropriate in cases involving questions of intent, motive, or where there are issues of credibility."

This case involved the question of three wills which have been thrown out by the Charleston Probate Court. It also had a question of the use of power of attorney for personal gain. The Defendant admits to using the POA to transfer property and benefiting from that transaction.

Under the South Carolina Uniform Power of Attorney Act (SCUPOAA), which is codified at S.C. Code Ann. § 62-8-101 et seq., the agent has a fiduciary duty to:

- Act in accordance with the principal's reasonable expectations to the extent known.
- Act in good faith.
- Act only within the scope of authority granted in the power of attorney.

Self-dealing, which includes transactions that benefit the agent personally at the principal's expense (such as transferring the principal's property to themselves or making gifts to themselves), is strictly limited and usually prohibited unless:

The Power of Attorney document expressly permits it (such as allowing gifts, transfers, or self-dealing or the principal consents at the time of the act, which is rare if the principal is incapacitated (the usual reason for using the POA).

If the Power of Attorney is silent or ambiguous about self-dealing, the agent is prohibited from doing so and may be found in breach of fiduciary duty.

The moving party bears the burden of showing no genuine issue of material fact. In *Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1991) the Court concluded:

"The party seeking summary judgment has the burden of clearly establishing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact."

Even "Slight Doubt" about facts requires denial of Summary Judgment. According to *Davidson v. Shirley*, 172 S.C. 329, 174 S.E. 35 (1934) (still cited for the general principle):

"If there be the slightest doubt as to the facts, summary judgment should not be granted." There was enough evidence presented in a packet to Judge McCoy which created the slightest doubt. The Honorable Judge read the full packet from presented from the Plaintiff and did not take any of it into considered. The weighing of the facts is the duty of the trier of fact and the Appellant is informed and believes that ignoring this information is inappropriate.

Due to the fact that circumstantial evidence can preclude summary judgment, the Plaintiffs presentation of real evidence such as the vacated wills should be enough to preclude summary judgment. *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., Inc.*, 381 S.C. 326, 673 S.E.2d 801 (2009):

"Summary judgment should not be granted merely because the movant believes the non-movant's evidence is weak or circumstantial."

The Plaintiff not having a large amount of evidence is not a standard for the granting of a summary judgment, but he did provide the evidence of the wills that were deemed insufficient by the Probate Court. The Defendant argued that the POA did not explicitly prohibit the action. This is contrary to South Carolina law. In the case *Fender v. Fender*, 285 S.C. 260, 329 S.E.2d 430 (1985): The South Carolina Supreme Court established that an agent cannot make gifts to themselves or others without clear, written authorization in the POA. The court stated:

"To avoid fraud and abuse, we adopt a rule barring a gift by an attorney-in-fact to himself or a third party absent clear intent to the contrary evidenced in writing.

The sentiment of no self-dealing was also reiterated in *Loftis v. Eck*, 288 S.C. 154, 341 S.E.2d 641 (Ct. App. 1986): The Court of Appeals reinforced the principle that self-dealing by an agent is impermissible without explicit written authority.

In the case *Watson v. Underwood*, 407 S.C. 443, 756 S.E.2d 155 (2014), The court upheld the validity of property transfers made by an agent to a trust, emphasizing that the POA must clearly authorize such actions.

This case was set for a bench trial which never occurred. The Court mentioned that the purpose of the hearing was to have a hearing on the merits. Pg. 4 p. 16, Pg.5 pa4 At the call of the case the Defendant was not in Court and only appeared by his attorney. This should have prevented the case from going forward because all parties were summoned to appear in Court. Failure to respond to a summons or appear at a scheduled hearing in a civil case in South

Carolina can result in a default judgment against the defendant, as outlined in *Rule 55 of the SCRPC*. It's important for defendants to respond promptly to legal actions and attend all scheduled hearings to protect their rights.

### **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, Appellant is informed and believes that there were genuine issues of material fact that deserved to be heard by a trier of fact and respectfully requests this Court reverse the Circuit Court's Order granting summary judgment and remand the matter for trial.