IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

George Jenkins, Appellant, Pro Se

Florence Heyward Davis, Respondent, Pro Se.

Appeal From Charleston County

Case No. 2019-CP-10-06647

Hon. Jennifer McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellant Case No. 2024-001929

RECEIVED

AUG 28 2025

SC Court of Appeals

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

(Pro Se - Florence Heyward Davis)

INTRODUCTION

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a final order of summary judgment entered on October 29, 2024, by the Honorable Jennifer McCoy in the Court of Common Pleas, Charleston County. Appellate jurisdiction lies under S.C. Code Ann. § 14-8-200 and Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR. To the extent Appellant asks this Court to resolve probate issues or matters not properly preserved in the circuit court, those issues fall outside the scope of this appeal and should be dismissed.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. **Misuse of the Appellate Process / Non-preserved Issues.** Whether the appeal should be dismissed or the judgment affirmed where Appellant uses the appellate forum to re-litigate probate questions, raise non-preserved theories, and attack a properly supported Rule 56 order.
2. **Summary Judgment.** Whether the circuit court correctly granted summary judgment because Appellant failed to present specific, admissible evidence creating a genuine dispute of material fact on fraud, capacity, or abuse of

the 2012 Durable POA.

3. **Authority Under the 2012 Durable POA.** Whether the record shows the 2012 POA expressly authorized Respondent to deed property to herself, sell, mortgage, refinance, and otherwise manage assets as part of decedent's stated plan.
4. **Inapplicability of the 2017 Amendment.** Whether the 2017 statutory amendment concerning certain POA transactions is inapplicable to a Durable POA executed in 2012.
5. **Probate vs. Common Pleas.** Whether challenges to wills belong in probate court, not in the Court of Common Pleas (as Appellant seeks), and therefore provide no basis to reverse the circuit court's ruling.
6. **Lack of Competent Medical or Legal Proof.** Whether Appellant's lay assertions about decedent's health and legal capacity—despite estate instruments prepared by decedent's personal attorney and an available affidavit—are insufficient to create a triable fact dispute.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant filed civil claims attempting to invalidate transactions authorized by a 2012 Durable POA and to re-litigate probate-related assertions about three wills of Florine Alethia Jenkins Heyward. After discovery opportunities, the circuit court granted Respondent's motion for summary judgment on October 29, 2024, finding no genuine issue of material fact and determining that Appellant's theories failed as a matter of law. This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

- **The 2012 Power of Attorney.** Decedent executed a POA in 2012 appointing Respondent as agent. The POA expressly granted authority to deed property (expressly to Respondent), sell,

mortgage, refinance, and otherwise manage assets. Respondent acted pursuant to those written powers.

- **Statutory Context.** The POA predates the 2017 statutory amendment on certain agent self-dealing limitations; Respondent's actions were taken under the 2012 instrument's express grants of authority.
 - **Wills History.** Appellant was **not** a beneficiary in the decedent's 1995 or 2003 wills. He was considered in a 2019 iteration prepared by respondent using the POA. However, the 2019 will is inoperative and of no effect because the relevant property was placed into the decedent's estate plan/estate administration; probate, not the Court of Common Pleas, governs the will process.
 - **Attorney Involvement.** Decedent's instruments—including wills and the POA—were prepared by her personal attorney, **Nathan Davis, Esq.** An affidavit regarding his representation and the circumstances of execution is available and was proffered.
 - **Medical Assertions.** Appellant is neither a medical professional nor an officer of the court. He offers no admissible medical expert evidence of incapacity. The existence of general medical records referencing Alzheimer's or dementia—without competent expert opinion tied to the execution dates—does not create a genuine issue of testamentary or contractual capacity under Rule 56.
- Circuit-Court Proceedings.** The court considered the POA, the wills, and related record materials at summary judgment and ruled for Respondent.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary judgment is appropriate when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. On appeal, the Court reviews the grant of summary judgment under the same standard, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, but conclusory

allegations and inadmissible speculation cannot create a triable issue.

ARGUMENT

I. The Appeal Misuses the Appellate Process and Raises Non-Preserved Probate Matters; Dismissal or Affirmance Is Warranted.

Appellant asks this Court to adjudicate will-contest issues that are the province of the probate court and to revisit matters fully addressed in the circuit court's Rule 56 order. Issues not ruled upon below are not preserved for appeal. To the extent Appellant seeks appellate relief on probate questions or theories not preserved, the appeal should be dismissed in part and otherwise affirmed.

II. The Circuit Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment; Appellant Presented No Admissible Evidence of Fraud or Incapacity.

To defeat summary judgment, Appellant was required to present specific facts—through admissible evidence—showing a genuine dispute of material fact. He did not. His assertions rest on speculation and lay opinions. The circuit court had before it the operative instruments (including the POA and wills) and Respondent's supporting materials, and properly concluded there was no triable issue on fraud, undue influence, or capacity.

III. The 2012 POA Expressly Authorized Respondent to Deed to Herself, Sell, Mortgage, Refinance, and Otherwise Manage Assets.

The plain language of the 2012 POA empowered Respondent to perform the challenged acts, including executing deeds to herself and engaging in sales, mortgages, and refinances consistent with decedent's stated wishes and estate plan. Where an instrument unambiguously grants authority, courts enforce its terms. Appellant's disagreement with the decedent's chosen agent and plan is not legal grounds for reversal.

IV. The 2017 Statutory Amendment Does Not Apply to the 2012 POA.

Appellant's reliance on post-2012 statutory changes is misplaced. The POA at issue was executed in 2012, and Respondent's actions were taken pursuant to that instrument. The later 2017 amendment he cites does not retroactively restrict the authority expressly granted in the 2012 POA. Thus, there is no legal basis to void the transactions on that ground.

V. Will Validity Is a Probate Question; Appellant's Attempt to Resolve Wills in Common Pleas Is Improper.

By statute and long practice, will contests and administration are handled in the probate court. Appellant's effort to transform this civil action into a will contest in the Court of Common Pleas is procedurally improper. The circuit court correctly declined to entertain probate questions outside its role and properly granted summary judgment on the civil claims presented.

VI. Appellant Offers No Competent Medical or Legal Proof; Lay Assertions Cannot Create a Fact Issue.

Appellant is not a medical professional or officer of the court and cannot offer expert opinions on capacity. General references to Alzheimer's or dementia, without expert testimony connecting the condition to the specific dates and legal standards for capacity at execution, do not create a triable issue. In contrast, the estate instruments were prepared by decedent's personal attorney, **Nathan Davis, Esq.**, and an affidavit supporting the circumstances of execution is available. The circuit court rightly found the record insufficient to proceed to trial.

Lack of First-Hand Knowledge by Appellant

Appellant was neither a caregiver to Florine Alethia Heyward nor a regular visitor during her final years. He lacks personal knowledge of her day-to-day condition or decision-making capacity. In fact, Appellant relied upon, depended upon, and trusted the care provided by Respondent, who was consistently present with the decedent. Accordingly, Appellant cannot credibly assert claims about her health, her intent, or the circumstances surrounding execution of the estate instruments.

VII. The 2019 Will Is Inoperative; No Prejudice Exists.

Although Appellant was considered for the first time in a 2019 will iteration prepared under the POA, that document is null and of no effect: the property at issue was placed in the decedent's estate/estate administration. Consequently, the 2019 document neither prejudices Appellant nor creates a live controversy warranting reversal of the Rule 56 order.

VIII. Misrepresentation of Medical Excuse Further Supports Dismissal with Prejudice.

Appellant was granted an extension of time to file his initial brief by this Court after claiming he had suffered a stroke and could not think or perform adequately. However, the only medical documentation he submitted referenced **degenerative disc disease**, a spinal condition that does not affect cognition, not a stroke. This material inconsistency undermines Appellant's credibility and demonstrates another instance of his misuse of judicial process.

Extensions of time in appellate proceedings are discretionary and require a showing of **good cause**. See **Rule 240, SCACR** (applications for extensions must be supported by good cause). Similarly, under **Rule 6(b), SCRCR**, enlargement of time requires a showing of excusable neglect or good cause. Where a party misrepresents or exaggerates medical conditions to obtain leniency, no good cause exists as a matter of law.

Furthermore, jurisdictional deadlines to perfect an appeal are mandatory. **Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR** provides that a notice of appeal must be served within thirty (30) days of receipt of the order. The South Carolina Supreme Court has made clear that this requirement is **jurisdictional and cannot be extended**, even by the court. See *Judy v. Judy*, 393 S.C. 160, 711 S.E.2d 826 (2011) (untimely notice of appeal requires dismissal). See also

Carolina Renewal, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Transp., 385 S.C. 550, 685 S.E.2d 200 (Ct. App. 2009).

Thus, Appellant's reliance on an alleged stroke—contradicted by his own medical records—further confirms that his appeal is not pursued in good faith. Combined with his repeated procedural failures, serial dismissals, and lack of admissible proof, this Court should exercise its discretion to **dismiss the appeal with prejudice** to protect the integrity of the appellate process and prevent further misuse.

CONCLUSION

The Court should **dismiss with prejudice** this appeal to the extent it raises non-preserved or probate-exclusive issues and otherwise **affirm** the circuit court's October 29, 2024 summary judgment in Respondent's favor. Alternatively, the Court should affirm on any ground appearing in the record.